RECEIVED

Dec 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen

Appellate Case No. 2025-000792
Circuit Court Case No. 2025-CP-07-00051

Bear Island Distributors, LLC,.....Appellant,

v.

Lincoln & South Brewing, Co., LLC,..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BURR & FORMAN LLP
John F. Connell, Jr., SC Bar #101701
104 South Main Street, Suite 700
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-4940
Attorneys for Appellant Bear Island
Distributors, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Circuit Court Erred in Applying an Incorrect Standard to Bear Island's Motion for Temporary Injunction.**
- II. The Circuit Court's Factual Findings Were Insufficient and Unsupported by the Evidence.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying a motion for temporary injunction. Bear Island Distributors, LLC (“**Bear Island**”), a beer wholesaler¹, sought an injunction against Lincoln & South Brewing Co., LLC (“**Lincoln**”), a registered producer², for unlawfully terminating its distribution agreement (the “**Distribution Agreement**”) with Bear Island. (**R. pp. 28-49**). Unlike other traditional breach of contract cases, this is a case of first impression arising out of and governed by the Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-10, *et seq.* (the “**Act**”). The Act is a powerful piece of legislation that South Carolina’s General Assembly enacted to protect and stabilize the three-tiered statutory system of alcohol distribution within the State. *Id.* Notably, in enacting this Act, the General Assembly declared that:

The State has a **substantial interest in regulating** alcoholic liquors and other beverages containing alcohol; **the activities of manufacturers, importers, wholesales, and retailers**; and the influences that affect the consumption levels of alcoholic liquors and other beverages containing alcohol by the people of the State.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-720 (emphasis added). The General Assembly added, in pertinent part, that:

It is the intent of the General Assembly that this act do all of the following:

...

(3) promote and assure the public’s interest **in fair and efficient distribution** and quality control of alcoholic beverages in this State;

...

(11) promote and maintain a **sound, stable, and viable three-tier system of distribution of beverages** containing alcohol to the public.

¹ The Act identifies alcohol distributors as “beer wholesalers.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(1)(a).

² The Act identifies brewers as “registered producers.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(1).

Id. (emphasis added). In promoting and maintaining a sound, stable, and viable three-tier system of distribution of beverages, the General Assembly enacted S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1120, which provides:

The court of common pleas has jurisdiction and power to **enjoin the cancellation or termination of a franchise or agreement between a beer wholesaler and a registered producer** upon the application of a beer wholesaler or producer **who is or might be adversely affected by the cancellation or termination**; and in granting an injunction, the court must make provisions necessary to protect the beer wholesaler or registered producer while the injunction is in effect including, but not limited to, a provision that the registered producer must not supply the customers of the beer wholesaler by servicing the customers through other distributors or means or a provision that the beer wholesaler must continue to supply to his customers the products of the registered producer. Application may be made by the beer wholesaler or producer to the appropriate court in the county in which the business of the wholesaler is located. The court may require a bond to be posted by the party seeking the injunction, securing the party enjoined for damages in an amount to the court's discretion.

(emphasis added). As addressed in more detail below, Bear Island presented evidence to the Circuit Court in its Motion for Temporary Injunction establishing a *prima facie* showing that it is or, at the low threshold requirement, “might be” adversely affected by Lincoln’s unlawful termination of the Agreement.

On March 3, 2025, the Circuit Court denied the temporary injunction in a brief order with the following six (6) numbered findings (**the “First Order”**) (**R. pp. 3-5**):

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action pursuant to the Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-10 *et seq.* (the “Act”).
2. Under the Act and the exclusive Distribution Agreement at issue, [Lincoln] as a registered producer is not able to market, sell, or distribute its product to retail customers except through [Bear Island] as its exclusive “beer wholesaler”.
3. [Bear Island] has not placed a purchase order with [Lincoln] under the Distribution Agreement since October, 2024.
4. [Bear Island] has statutory and contract claims with discernible and calculable amounts in dispute which provide adequate remedies at law.
5. Bear Island Distributors did not present convincing evidence that it has been or might be adversely affected by the cancellation of the Distributorship

Agreement sufficient to support its motion for an injunction under S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1120.

6. [Bear Island's] Motion for Temporary Injunction is denied.

(Id., p. 2). On March 13, 2025, Bear Island timely moved to alter or amend the First Order (**the “Motion to Alter or Amend”**) on the following grounds: (a) the Circuit Court erroneously applied a heightened evidentiary standard to the “adversely affected” analysis under the Act; (b) to the extent applicable, the Circuit Court did not sufficiently address the common law elements for temporary injunction; and (c) the Circuit Court did not include sufficient findings of fact as required under Rule 52, SCRPC. (**R. pp. 248-262**).

On March 26, 2025, the Circuit Court denied Bear Island's Motion to Alter or Amend the First Order (**the “Second Order”**). (**R. pp. 6-12**). In its Second Order, the Circuit Court maintained that it did not apply a heightened standard but rather that Bear Island **“did not convince the Court”** that [Bear Island] made a showing that it will or might be adversely affected.” (**Id., p. 3**) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court further stated that its First Order did not consider the common law elements for temporary injunction but instead used the statutory “adversely affected” standard provided by the Act. (**Id., p. 4**). The Circuit Court also found that its First Order included sufficient findings of fact as it was “based on the pleadings, filings of record, submissions of the parties, presentation of counsel, and inquiry of the Court at the hearing.” (**Id., p. 5**). The Circuit Court then identified nine (9) additional bullet-points in its Second Order:

1. [Bear Island] and [Lincoln] had an exclusive distribution agreement whereby [Lincoln] cannot distribute its product through anyone other than [Bear Island] so long as the exclusive distribution agreement is in place;
2. [Lincoln] alleged [Plaintiff] had not complied with the Distribution Agreement and issued a Notice of Termination on November 15, 2024;
3. [Lincoln] is only one of the 28 beer suppliers that have exclusive distribution agreements with [Bear Island];

4. [Bear Island] can and has continued to do business with its 27 other beer suppliers;
5. [Bear Island] has not placed a purchase order with [Lincoln] since October 2024;
6. [Lincoln] could not sell its product through another distributor while [Bear Island's] motion for injunction relief was pending;
7. In December 2024, [Bear Island's] sales agent told a retail customer when asked about getting [Lincoln's] product that [Lincoln] had no product but did not place a purchase order to service that customer and instead suggested a substitute product;
8. [Bear Island] tried to market another of its supplier's products to an existing customer of [Lincoln] (HHI Seafood festival) without placing a purchase order to service that customer; and
9. [Bear Island] removed three of [Lincoln's] taps from one of its retail customers on Hilton Head Island without placing a purchase order to service that customer.

(Id., p. 5).

As addressed in more detail below, the Second Order continued to apply a heightened standard to the “adversely affected” analysis under the Act and also considered facts not within evidence in denying Bear Island’s Motion for Temporary Injunction. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court’s First and Second Order, grant Bear Island’s Motion for Temporary Injunction, and enjoin Lincoln from continuing to violate the terms of the Distribution Agreement and the Act.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Distribution Agreement between Bear Island and Lincoln.

In 2021, Lincoln opened its brewery, Lincoln & South Brewing Company, in Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. On June 16, 2021, Bear Island and Lincoln entered into the Distribution Agreement, as required by the three-tier alcohol distribution system, whereby Lincoln agreed to sell a variety of its beers (**collectively, the “Brands”**) to Bear Island. (**R. p. 15, ¶ 6; R. pp. 28-49**). In turn, Bear Island agreed to distribute Lincoln’s Brands to retailers throughout South

Carolina. (*Id.*). Between June 2021 and October 2024, the parties developed a successful distribution arrangement where Bear Island regularly made weekly purchases of Lincoln's Brands and, subsequently, sold Lincoln's Brands to hundreds of retailers in South Carolina. (**R. p. 16, ¶ 11; R. pp. 234-238**). Notably, throughout the more than three (3) year distribution arrangement between the parties, Bear Island purchased over \$750,000 of Lincoln's Brands. (*Id.*).

B. Bear Island's Development, Promotion, and Marketing of Lincoln's Brands.

During the Distribution Agreement, Bear Island developed, marketed, and grew its distribution of Lincoln's Brands throughout the State of South Carolina to approximately four hundred and fifty (450) retail stores, bars, and restaurants (**collectively, the "Retailers"**) (**R. pp. 234-235, ¶ 3**). Because Lincoln was a newly established brewery on Hilton Head Island, Bear Island's development and marketability of Lincoln's Brands was not without significant costs, time, or effort. (*Id.*). In particular, Bear Island assigned ten (10) sales representatives to introduce, sell, and promote Lincoln's Brands among its Retailers. (*Id.*). In order to successfully distribute Lincoln's Brands, Bear Island built an extensive rapport with a wide variety of Retailers. (*Id.*). In building this rapport, Bear Island established trust with its Retailers on the underlying basis that it would provide a consistent supply of Lincoln's Brands. (*Id.*, ¶ 6). Importantly, however, Bear Island's ability to sell Lincoln's Brands to Retailers was limited. (*Id.*). For example, when Bear Island solicited Retailers to purchase Lincoln's Brands, the Retailer was limited to selecting, on average, just two or three Brands over the course of a season or entire year. (*Id.*).

"Once Bear Island secure[d] a placement for Lincoln's Brands, the placement [was] intended to be long-term and provide a recurring revenue stream." (*Id.*, ¶ 4). This "placement [was] specifically pronounced because retail accounts have limited shelf and tap space." (*Id.*, ¶ 5). Therefore, it was,

[C]ritical for Bear Island to carefully select which Brands to promote. For example, many restaurants create menus that specifically identify what Brands it intends to sell over the course of a season and, in some cases, an entire year. Once the menus are created, these menus are fixed and Brands are not rotated on or off.

(Id.). In short, “due to the demands of the retail market and limited shelf and tap space, Bear Island’s distribution and supply of Lincoln’s Brands to its retail accounts [was] existential to Bear Island’s success and business operations.” *(Id., ¶ 6)*.

C. Lincoln’s Production Issues and Lack of Communication with Bear Island.

Beginning in early 2024, Lincoln struggled to maintain a consistent production and supply of its Brands to Bear Island. **(R. p. 16, ¶ 12)**. Despite Lincoln’s inability to provide a sufficient production and supply of its Brands, Bear Island continued to abide by its contractual obligations under the Distribution Agreement and grow Lincoln’s Brands throughout South Carolina. *(Id., ¶ 13)*. For example, on February 21, 2024, Bear Island emailed Lincoln to inquire as to when Lincoln expected to supply Bear Island with more Brands. *(Id., ¶ 14; R. pp. 50-52)*. In response, Lincoln informed Bear Island that there were changes being made with the production schedule and that it intended to make more beer available. *(Id.)*. Bear Island replied, in relevant part, that it was “trying to get an idea of when [the Brands] will be back in stock for distribution so that we can communicate that to our accounts.” *(Id.)*. Similarly, on March 19, 2024, Bear Island issued a purchase order to Lincoln via email and inquired into whether Lincoln could expedite the available date for a particular Brand in order to meet the immediate demands of its local accounts. **(R. p. 17, ¶ 15; R. pp. 53-55)**. Lincoln responded that it could not accommodate Bear Island’s production request. *(Id.)*. Again, on May 16, 2024, Bear Island submitted a request to Lincoln to pick up a certain Brand. Lincoln responded that its glycol chiller was broken and no pickups could occur. *(Id., ¶ 16; R. pp. 56-57)*.

On June 26, 2024, Lincoln, for the first time, demanded that Bear Island immediately pick up and distribute sixty (60) barrels of its Brands. (*Id.*, ¶ 18; **R. pp. 58-61**). Bear Island responded that, while it had the capacity to distribute up to sixty (60) barrels per week, due to Lincoln's average supply of just fifteen (15) barrels per week in May, a four hundred percent (400%) increase in one week was not feasible. (*Id.*). Bear Island offered to schedule a strategy and planning session to accommodate Lincoln's request as soon as possible and to assist Lincoln with the storage of the Brands. (*Id.*). Lincoln did not respond to Bear Island's request to meet and confer. (*Id.*, ¶ 19).

On July 8, 2024, Bear Island sent another email to Lincoln to schedule a meeting to discuss growing Lincoln's Brand sales and marketing to include a strategy plan moving forward. (**R. p. 18 ¶ 20; R. pp. 62-64**). Again, Lincoln did not respond to Bear Island's request to meet and confer. (**R. p. 18, ¶ 21**). On August 19, 2024, Bear Island informed Lincoln that it implemented a new distribution software that would streamline purchase orders, sales, logistics, data, and reporting, to continue to promote and assist Lincoln's production. (**R. p. 18, ¶ 22; R. pp. 65-67**). Additionally, Bear Island informed Lincoln of eight (8) new customers that Bear Island had obtained in the previous two (2) weeks and requested marketing materials and sales sheets from Lincoln. (*Id.*).

On August 20, 2024, Bear Island emailed Lincoln regarding its sales plans and facilitating correspondence between Lincoln and Bear Island's individual sales representatives. (**R. p. 18 ¶ 23, R. pp. 68-70**). Bear Island provided Lincoln a list of Bear Island's sales representatives, their contact information, and their respective territories. (*Id.*). In that correspondence, Bear Island additionally requested that Lincoln participate in one of Bear Island's virtual sales team meeting. (*Id.*). Again, Lincoln did not respond to Bear Island's request for marketing materials and sales sheets nor did Lincoln attend Bear Island's virtual sales team meeting or participate in Bear Island's virtual sales team meetings. (*Id.*, ¶ 24).

On September 24, 2024, Bear Island, through its sales representative, informed Lincoln that it had been requested to provide its Brands for a high dollar event at a private oceanfront home on November 8th, 2024. (**R. p. 19, ¶ 25; R. pp. 71-72**). Bear Island informed Lincoln that the customer requested a representative from Lincoln attend the event to pour its Brands. (*Id.*). Yet again, Lincoln did not respond to the September 24, 2024 email correspondence from Bear Island, nor did Lincoln provide a representative to attend the November 8, 2024 event. (*Id.*, ¶ 26). On October 10, 2024, Bear Island emailed Lincoln to schedule a meeting to discuss sales and marketing. (**R. p. 19 ¶ 27; R. pp. 73-75**). Bear Island provided a sales plan, which Bear Island already began executing, and requested Lincoln's support in clarifying points of communication and streamlining information flow on production. (*Id.*). Again, Lincoln did not respond to Bear Island's October 10, 2024 email correspondence. (*Id.*).

D. Lincoln's Unlawful Termination of the Distribution Agreement and Refusal to Sell its Brands to Bear Island.

On October 14, 2024, per its normal operating procedure, Bear Island sent an email to Lincoln to pick up a variety of its Brands. (**R. p. 19, ¶ 29; R. pp. 205-207**). Lincoln did not respond to Bear Island's purchase order request. (*Id.*). Instead, Lincoln demanded Bear Island release it from the Distribution Agreement without any reason. (**R. p. 19, ¶ 30**). Bear Island questioned why Lincoln sought a release from the Distribution Agreement and also sought to fulfill the October 14, 2024 purchase order. (*Id.*).

On October 16, 2024, Bear Island's managing member, Willie Cram, sent a text message to Lincoln's head brewer, John Rybicki, inquiring whether Lincoln would allow Bear Island to pick up the October 14, 2024 purchase order. (**R. pp. 208-211**). Rather than continue selling its Brands to Bear Island, Lincoln outright refused to sell anything to Bear Island in violation of the Distribution Agreement. (*Id.*). On October 21, 2024, Bear Island sent a follow-up email to Lincoln

requesting to pick up the purchase order on Wednesday. (**R. p. 19; ¶ 29; R. pp. 205-207**). In particular, Bear Island wrote “[w]e are now completely out of Beach City draft so if we want to keep our draft accounts stocked we’ll need to pick this up Wed.” (*Id.*). Lincoln did not respond to this email. On Wednesday, October 23, 2024, Mr. Cram sent another text message to Mr. Rybicki asking if Bear Island could retrieve the Brands it sought in the purchase order. (**R. pp. 78-79**). Specifically, the October 23, 2024 text message stated:

Hey man, I got Will on the Island, are we good to get the PO and drop shells? Need to fullfil [sic] some Beach City orders for sure [sic] I can just send him by as well to check but will need to know bc [sic] otherwise he’ll start heading back towards Bluffton / Beaufort.

(*Id.*). Mr. Rybicki responded, “[h]ave your attorney respond to [Lincoln’s attorney] please.” (*Id.*).

Four (4) weeks later, on November 14, 2024, Lincoln sent a Notice of Termination of the Distribution Agreement to Bear Island (**the “Notice of Termination”**). (**R. pp. 20-21, ¶ 38; R. pp. 80-92**). In the Notice of Termination, Lincoln contended that the Distribution Agreement would terminate within sixty (60) days (i.e., January 13, 2025) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(a). (*Id.*). Yet, rather than comply with its obligations under the Distribution Agreement, the Act, and its Notice of Termination between November 14, 2024 and January 13, 2025, Lincoln refused to sell its Brands to Bear Island altogether. (*Id.*). Importantly, Bear Island vehemently denies it violated the Distribution Agreement. (*Id.*).

Notably, on January 30, 2025, Keith McCool, Lincoln’s Taproom Manager, responded to a request relating to one of Lincoln’s Brands in a Facebook Group, Lowcountry Beer Enthusiasts (**the “Facebook Group”**).³ Mr. McCool wrote in his Facebook post that Lincoln is “currently in the **process of switching distributors**” and that Lincoln has not “**put anything into distribution**”

³ Mr. McCool’s post on the Facebook Group has since been removed and/or deleted.

for months.” (R. pp. 228-232). Since October 14, 2024, Lincoln has not sold one Brand to Bear Island. (R. p. 20, ¶ 34).

E. The “Adverse Effects” on Bear Island Due to Lincoln’s Termination of the Distribution Agreement.

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