RECEIVED

Dec 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Beaufort County
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Judge
Civil Action No.: 2025-CP-07-00051
Appellate Case No. 2025-000792

BEAR ISLAND DISTRIBUTORS, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

LINCOLN & SOUTH BREWING CO., LLC,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Stephen P. Groves, Sr., Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 007854
R. Nicholas C. Felix, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 65078
BUTLER SNOW LLP
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 250
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843.277.3704
Telecopier: 843.277.3701
E-Mail: Stephen.Groves@butlersnow.com
Nick.Felix@butlersnow.com

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

III. ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Standard Of Review

“ ‘An order [either] granting or denying an injunction is reviewed [by appellate courts] for [an] abuse of discretion.’ ”²⁴ “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.”²⁵ Moreover, “ ‘[a]n injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the [trial] court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff.’ ”²⁶ In order “[t]o obtain an injunction, a party must demonstrate irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits, and the absence of an adequate remedy at law.”²⁷

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT APPLIED THE APPROPRIATE EVIDENTIARY STANDARD IN DENYING BEAR ISLAND’S MOTION FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION.

Contrary to Bear Island’s meritless arguments, the Circuit Court applied the proper and correct evidentiary standard where addressing Bear Island’s alleged entitlement to a temporary injunction. Moreover, the Circuit Court appropriately addressed all three

Agreement, as well as the fact Bear Island] did not address [Lincoln & South’s] Notice of Termination [nor] come into compliance with the Distribution Agreement after receiving the Notice of Termination [nor] place[] a purchase order with [Lincoln & South] for product since October 2024.” (R.A.6-7).

²⁴ Richland County v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 422 S.C. 292, 309, 811 S.E.2d 758, 767 (2018) (*citing* Strategic Recourses Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006)) (Citation omitted in original).

²⁵ County of Richland v. Simpkins, 348 S.C. 664, 668, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct.App. 2002) (*citing* Ledford v. Pennsylvania Life Ins. Co., 267 S.C. 671, 675, 230 S.E.2d 900, 902 (1976)).

²⁶ Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes West Residential Golf Properties, Inc., 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 907 (2004) (*citing* James Flanagan, South Carolina Civil Procedure, 507 (2nd Edition 1996)).

²⁷ Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010) (*citing* Sanford v. South Carolina State Ethics Commission, 385 S.C. 483, 496, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (2009); Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 367 S.C. 1, 4, 623 S.E.2d 833, 834 (2005)).

elements of a common law temporary injunction. The Circuit Court's two orders should be affirmed by this Court of Appeals in all respects as they are proper and correct recitations of the applicable law.

1. Bear Island's Request for a Temporary Injunction

Bear Island sought a temporary injunction from the Circuit Court, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1120 (Thomson Reuters West 223) based on assertions Bear Island would be "adversely affected by [Lincoln & South's] termination on cancellation . . ." (*Id.*) of the *Distribution Agreement* as of 13 January 2025. (R.A.194). Bear Island requested the Circuit court to enjoin Lincoln & South from:

. . . taking any actions whatsoever which would in any way interfere with Bear Island's rights under the *[D]istribution [A]greement* . . ., including but not limited to (a) terminating the *Distribution Agreement*; (b) requiring Lincoln [& South] to continue to comply with its obligations under the *Distribution Agreement* and sell its [B]rands (*i.e.*, varieties of beer) . . . to Bear Island, and (c) circumventing the *Distribution Agreement* by supplying Bear Island's customers through other distributors or other means.

(R.A.192). Moreover, Bear Island asserted it "need **only** show that [Bear Island] "is or might be adversely affected by the cancellation or termination" of the *Distribution Agreement* to [authorize the Circuit Court to] enjoin Lincoln [& South] from terminating the *Distribution Agreement*. (R.A.202) (Emphasis in original).

2. How Is "Adversely Affected" Defined?

Nothing in either S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1120 or elsewhere in the South Carolina Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages Act,²⁸ including within Article 11 – *Beer Wholesaler Franchise* of Chapter 4 *Beer, Ale, Porter, and Wine*, defines the term "adversely affected".

²⁸ See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 61-2-10, *et seq.* (Thomson Reuters West 2023).

While “ ‘[t]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature,’ ”²⁹ “when faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning.”³⁰ Furthermore, “[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.”³¹ Nevertheless, “ ‘[i]n construing a statute [an appellate] [c]ourt will reject an interpretation when such an interpretation leads to an absurd result [which] could not have been intended by the [L]egislature..’ ”³²

That is the situation in this contractual dispute between Bear Island and Lincoln & South. Under Bear Island’s theory of the case the term “adversely affected” essentially means any allegedly “negative” result, ***however minor***, which Bear Island either directly “suffered” or which Bear Island “may have suffered” because of Lincoln & South terminating the *Distribution Agreement* mandated the Circuit Court to grant Bear Island injunctive relief. For the Circuit Court to have granted Bear Island a temporary injunction on such a flimsy basis would have allowed Bear Island to effectively hold Lincoln & South ***hostage*** to continue their totally fractured commercial relationship until this litigation

²⁹ Estate of Meier by and through Meier v. Burnsed, 445 S.C. 288, 294, 914 S.E.2d 130, 133 (2025) (*quoting* Brooks v. Benore Logistics Systems, Inc., 442 S.C. 462, 477, 900 S.E.2d 436, 444 (2024) (*quoting* Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)).

³⁰ Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Commission, 332 S.C. 54, 62, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 (1998) (*citing* Adoptive Parents v. Biological Parents, 315 S.C. 535, 446 S.E.2d 404 (1994)).

³¹ State v. Hudson, 336 S.C. 237, 246, 519 S.E.2d 577, 583 (Ct.App. 1999) (*citing* Rowe v. Hyatt, 321 S.C. 366, 468 S.E.2d 649 (1996); City of Sumter Police Department v. One (1) 1992 Blue Mazda Truck, 330 S.C. 371, 498 S.E.2d 894 (Ct.App. 1998)).

³² State v. Kinard, 427 S.C.367, 375, 831 S.E.2d 138, 142 (Ct.App. 2019) (*quoting* Lancaster County Bar Association v. South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, 380 S.C. 219, 222, 670 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008)).

ended. This would have been in the face of Lincoln & South’s substantial evidence it was Bear Island’s own product distribution miscues, mistakes, and malfunctions which lead to the *Distribution Agreement* termination. (R.A.369-380).

3. A Proper *Distribution Agreement* Termination

Undeniably, “South Carolina law protects beer distributors from arbitrary, unfair terminations of their distributorship contracts by registered beer producers.”³³ The operative intent is legal protection from either arbitrary and/or unfair terminations, not terminations, as in this case, based on just cause and made in good faith. Consequently, the law also acknowledges contractual agreements, such as the *Distribution Agreement*, may be cancelled and/or terminated for good cause, in good faith, and for material breaches of the contractual agreement.³⁴ The authorities recognize this is a well-recognized and accepted practice across the country.³⁵

Consequently, the imposition of injunctive relief in this case is clearly an absurd result never intended by our Legislature when viewed in the context of the normal requirements for injunctive relief,³⁶ together with the specific statutory requirements

³³ Piedmont Distributing Co., Inc. v. Pearl Brewing Co., 737 F.2d 1311, 1314 (4th Cir. 1984) (Interpreting predecessor statute).

³⁴ See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(2)(b). See also 29 S.C. Juris., § 47.

³⁵ See W. Micheal Garner, 3 Franchise and Distribution Law and Practice, Beer, Wine, and Liquor Distributorships, § 16.2 (Thomson Reuters West November 2024 Update) (“Limitations on termination or nonrenewal of beer, wine, or liquor distributorships are similar to those under automobile statues and franchise relationship statutes generally. Most states that have such provisions prohibit the manufacturer or distributor from terminating the distributor except for good cause and require notice . . .”). See also *Id.*, at § 16.4 (Thomson Reuters West November 2024 Update) (Setting forth summary of state beer, wine, and liquor statutes).

³⁶ Smith v. Planned Parenthood South Atlantic, 2022 WL 3478531, at *1 (Sup.Ct., 17 Aug. 2022) (citing Compton v. South Carolina Department of Corrections, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011); Poynter Investments, Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc., 387 S.C. 583, 586–587, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010)) (“A party seeking a temporary injunction must establish three

imposed on Lincoln & South when seeking to properly terminate the *Distribution Agreement*,³⁷ namely the “notice of intention to cancel the *[Distribution] [A]greement . . .* must be given in writing at least [60] days before the date of the proposed cancellation or termination.”³⁸ Furthermore, Lincoln & South’s “notice [had to] contain . . . assurance that the *[Distribution] [A]greement . . . [wa]s* being terminated in good faith and for material violation of one or more provisions which [we]re relevant to the effective operation of the *[Distribution] [A]greement . . .*”³⁹ Finally, the notice had to contain “a list of the specific reasons for the termination or cancellation.”⁴⁰

As the law required, Lincoln & South’s termination for cause letter to Bear Island “contained assurance that the *[Distribution] [A]greement [wa]s [being]* terminated in good faith and for material violation of one or more provisions which [we]re relevant to the effective operation of the *[Distribution] [A]greement*, and [set forth] a list of the specific reasons for the termination.”⁴¹ Lincoln & South’s termination notice complied with South Carolina law in all respects and demonstrated that if Bear Island was adversely affected by the termination, those adverse effects arose solely from Bear Island’s own actions and/or inactions.

elements to receive this relief: (1) immediate, irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) a likelihood of success on the merits; and (3) no adequate remedy at law.”).

³⁷ See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(2)(b) (Thomson Reuters West 2023). See also 29 South Carolina Jurisprudence, *Private Business Franchises and Business Opportunities*, § 47 (Thomson Reuters West Aug. 2025 Update).

³⁸ *Id.* See also 29 S.C. Juris., § 47.

³⁹ *Id.* See 29 S.C. Juris., § 47.

⁴⁰ *Id.* See 29 S.C. Juris., § 47.

⁴¹ See 29 S.C. Juris., § 47 (*citing* S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1100(2)(b)).

4. Bear Island's Evidentiary Failures

Moreover, even if the “proper standard” for the Circuit Court to grant injunctive relief was simply for Bear Island to present “evidence” Bear Island was actually or might somehow be “adversely affected” by the termination of the *Distribution Agreement* termination, it was clear the Circuit Court concluded “the facts and circumstances presented by [Bear Island in support of its request for injunctive relief] did not convince the [Circuit] Court that [Bear Island] made a [proper and sufficient] showing that [Bear Island] will or might be adversely affected [by termination of the *Distribution Agreement*].” (R.A.8). Bear Island was required to present evidence demonstrating it was entitled to injunctive relief and simply failed to so.

In this vein the Circuit Court specifically found and concluded:

[Bear Island] offered evidence [it] w[as] not able to order product from [Lincoln & South]. However, the [Circuit] Court finds that **[Bear Island] itself was the cause of any potential adverse affect because they had not ordered product since October, 2024.** [Bear Island]’s counsel’s letter to [Lincoln & South]’s counsel on January 29, 2025, is not evidence of [Bear Island]’s attempt to submit a Purchase Order. Additionally, the letter **did not show that [Bear Island] made any attempt to comply with the Distribution Agreement.** [Bear Island] also argued [it] would suffer loss of business, loss of reputation, loss of goodwill, and loss of customers [if the *Distribution Agreement* was terminated]. However, [Bear Island] provided a text message with a retail customer of [Lincoln & South], where the customer inquired about getting [Lincoln & South]’s product and was told by [Bear Island]’s Sales Representative . . . ‘Lincoln [&] South has none to sell us . . . need to sub for something else.’ [Bear Island] **admitted that it did not make an inquiry** to [Lincoln & South] or place a purchase order to service that retail customer; instead, [Bear Island] told the customer [Lincoln & South] did not have any product and offered a substitute product. [Bear Island] also argue[d] that it collaborated with [Lincoln & South], to service the [Hilton Head Island] Seafood Festival. However, the evidence indicated that [Bear Island] **tried to sell competing products to the Hilton Head Island**

Seafood Festival. Further, after the customer contacted [Lincoln & South] to inquire why [Bear Island] was promoting one of [Lincoln & South] competitors, [Lincoln & South] contacted [Bear Island] and had to demand that [Bear Island] make the product delivery to the [Hilton Head Island] Seafood Festival.

(R.A.8-9) (Emphasis added).

Furthermore, Bear Island asserted the Circuit Court used the “clear and convincing” standard of proof when reviewing Bear Island’s entitlement to injunctive relief seizing on the Circuit Court’s statement that “Bear Island . . . did not present **convincing** evidence that [Bear Island] has been or might be adversely affected by the cancellation of the *Distribution Agreement* . . .” (R.A.4) (Emphasis added). At best, this is a “red herring” and at worst a gross mischaracterization of the Circuit Court’s decision. All the Circuit Court was stating was that Bear Island’s evidence failed to **convince** the Circuit Court Bear Island was entitled to injunctive relief. There was no indication the Circuit Court used some higher standard of proof when considering Bear Island’s motion, just that Bear Island, which clearly bore the burden of proof,⁴² failed to present sufficient evidence to persuade, induce, or influence, sway, encourage, and/or convince the Circuit Court to impose a preliminary injunction on Lincoln & South pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-1120.

The Circuit Court properly denied Bear Island’s request for injunctive relief against Lincoln & South. The Circuit Court’s decision should be affirmed in all respects.

⁴² Poynter Investments, 387 S.C. 583, 586–587, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17.

B. BEAR ISLAND FAILED TO PRESENT EVIDENCE IT WAS ENTITLED TO A COMMON LAW TEMPORARY INJUNCTION.

1. Bear Island Failed to Show Irreparable Harm.

Bear Island was required to show to the Circuit Court Bear Island was *likely* to suffer irreparable harm if the Circuit Court failed to grant injunctive relief.⁴³ This is the case since the “sole purpose for granting a temporary injunction is to preserve status quo in order to avoid possible irreparable injury to a party.”⁴⁴ Nevertheless, such relief is not, however, granted on the potential or possibility of irreparable harm, as speculative injury is not sufficient as “[a] court of equity never enjoins by reason of a theoretical or speculative injury.”⁴⁵ Moreover, the courts have noted “[b]ecause preliminary injunctive relief is such an ‘extraordinary remedy’, it may not issue ‘based only on a possibility of irreparable harm.’ ”⁴⁶

The evidence demonstrated and the Circuit Court agreed that an injunction was not necessary to preserve the parties’ respective rights while this litigation proceeded forward. (R.A.3-5; R.A.6-12). Lincoln & South is but one of 28 beverage

⁴³ County of Richland v. Simpkins, 384 S.C. 664, 669, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (*citing* Roach v. Combined Utilities Commission, 290 S.C. 437, 442, 351 S.E.2d 168, 170 (Ct.App. 1986)).

⁴⁴ Johnson v. Spartanburg County School Dist. 7, 2008 WL 984826, at *2 (S.C.App., 27 Oct. 2008) (*citing* Powell v. Immanuel Baptist Church, 261 S.C. 219, 221, 199 S.E.2d 60, 61 (1973)).

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